

# EFFECT OF PROCESSING METHOD ON THE PHYSICOCHEMICAL, ANTINUTRIENT AND PASTING PROPERTIES OF THREE COMMONLY CONSUMED SOUP THICKENERS

## ABSTRACT

The effect of processing methods on the physicochemical, functional and pasting properties of *Mucuna sloanei* (Ukpo), *Brachystegia eurycoma* (Achi) and *Daterium microcarpum* (Ofor) were assessed. Flour from these seeds were produced after boiling or soaking at different time intervals. The flours were evaluated for physicochemical, antinutrient, storage and pasting properties using standard methods. Moisture and ash contents of the three soup thickeners ranged between 5.58- 8.92% and 1.14-5.59% with sample B<sub>1</sub> (Achi boiled for 15 min) and C<sub>4</sub> (Ofor soaked for 48 h) having the lowest and sample B<sub>2</sub> (Achi boiled for 30 min) and C<sub>1</sub> (Ofor boiled for 15 min) having the highest. Fat and fibre contents ranged from 2.90-10.95% and 1.30-14.39% with samples C<sub>1</sub> (Ofor boiled for 15 min) and A<sub>1</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 15 min) as the highest. Crude protein and carbohydrate contents of soup thickeners ranged between 9.19 -21.31% and 45.01-71.38% with samples A<sub>3</sub> (Ukpo soaked for 24 h) and B<sub>4</sub> (Achi soaked for 48 h) as the highest. Sugar and starch contents ranged from 2.61-5.04% and from 69.00-74.27% respectively with sample C<sub>4</sub> (Ofor soaked for 48 h) and A<sub>4</sub> (Ukpo soaked for 48 h) as the lowest and sample A<sub>3</sub> (Ukpo soaked for 24 h) and B<sub>3</sub> (Achi soaked for 24 h) as the highest. Amylose and amylopectin content ranged between 25.20-29.68% and 70.33-74.80% with sample C<sub>3</sub> (Ofor soaked for 24 h) and A<sub>2</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 30 min) as lowest and samples A<sub>2</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 30 min) and B<sub>4</sub> (Achi soaked for 48 h) as the highest. Functional properties showed bulk density and dispersibility to range between 0.56-0.76g/ml and 32.50-48.00% with sample B<sub>3</sub> (Achi soaked for 24 h) as highest in both cases. Solubility and swelling power ranged from 32.56-107.51% and from 4.61-8.72g/g with sample A<sub>2</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 30 min) and A<sub>1</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 15 min) having the highest respectively. Foam capacity ranged from 2.50-29.50% with sample C<sub>2</sub> (Ofor soaked for 48 h) having the lowest and sample A<sub>1</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 15 min) having the highest, while the least gelation concentration of the three soup thickeners recorded 2.00% for all the treatments. Water absorption capacity ranged between 0.67-10.46ml/g with B<sub>1</sub> (Achi boiled for 15 min) having the lowest and sample C<sub>2</sub> (Ofor boiled for 30 min) having the highest. Antinutritional factors showed that phytate recorded 0.01g/kg for all the treatments, tannin ranged from 2.22-40.71mg/kg, oxalate between 3.40-7.90mg/100g and saponin between 2.60-9.18% with different treatments affecting the antinutrients. Free fatty acid content and Peroxide value ranged between 0.25-0.87% and 0.00-6.60meq/kg with the lesser treatment time showing better storage values. Iodine and saponification values ranged between 21.45-235.67g/100g and 189.06-356.34MgKOH/g with sample A<sub>4</sub> (Ukpo soaked for 48 h) and A<sub>1</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 15 min) having the lowest, while sample B<sub>3</sub> (Achi soaked for 24 h) and sample C<sub>4</sub> (Ofor soaked for 48 h) having the highest. While boiling ofor for 15 min gave an acid value of 0.51MgKOH/g. Pasting result showed that treatment and time affected pasting properties with peak viscosity ranging from 6704-16429RVU, trough viscosity from 3846-9231RVU, breakdown viscosity from 1933-7858RVU, final viscosity from 11716-19977RVU and set back viscosity from 6763-13004RVU respectively. Peak time and pasting temperature ranged between 1.60-6.10 min and between 50.25-76.18°C for the different treatments. This study shows the need for appropriate treatment and time combination for better nutrient availability and detoxification of these seeds as soup thickeners.

Keywords: Processing methods, soup thickeners, physicochemical, antinutrient, pasting

## INTRODUCTION

In West Africa, dietary pattern vary and is influenced by vegetation belt. In the Northern parts of Nigeria, cereals dominate, while in the South, legumes, nuts, seeds and starchy roots or tubers are the main food components (Ene-Obong and Carnoalue, 1982). However, processing of the cereals and starch roots into a form of paste and eaten with soups is the general practice. Among the legumes used in soups (mainly for emulsification and

Comment [HG1]: Add 'S' to METHOD

Comment [HG2]: What are the English names of these seeds? Write them in small letters inside the bracket i.e. (ukpo) etc.

Comment [HG3]: Change 'or' to 'and'

Comment [HG4]: Add 'o' to become 'physico'

Comment [HG5]: What do you mean by 'storage properties'?

Comment [HG6]: Add 'Crude' i.e. Crude fat

Comment [HG7]: Add ', respectively,'

Comment [HG8]: Please delete, you have already mentioned what C<sub>4</sub> stands for. There is no need for repetition. Kindly do same for others and avoid unnecessary too many words.

Comment [HG9]: Delete

Comment [HG10]: Please delete.

Comment [HG11]: Please delete.

Comment [HG12]: Please delete.

Comment [HG13]: Please delete.

Comment [HG14]: Please delete.

Comment [HG15]: Please delete.

Comment [HG16]: Please delete.

Comment [HG17]: Please delete.

Comment [HG18]: Space the words.

Comment [HG19]: Please delete.

Comment [HG20]: Please delete.

Comment [HG21]: Please delete.

Comment [HG22]: Please delete.

Comment [HG23]: Please delete.

Comment [HG24]: Please delete.

Comment [HG25]: No! This is Year 2019, you can get recent references online. Please google.

49 stabilization of soups` are *Mucuna sloanei* (Ukpo), and *Brachystegia eurycoma* (Achi) and  
50 *Detarium microcarpum* (Ofor).

**Comment [HG26]:** Delete, it is repetition.

51  
52 Each of the soup thickeners differs in species from the others and so have their individual  
53 characteristic flavor which they impart to soups. At present, most of the indigenous edible  
54 plants which could be used as food thickeners in Nigeria and other West African countries  
55 have been neglected and have remained relatively unknown and under-utilized. *Mucuna*  
56 *sloanei*, *Brachystegia eurycoma* and *Detarium microcarpum* are naturally found in tropical  
57 and sub-tropical areas with common names as Ukpo, Achi and Ofor respectively (Ayozie  
58 2010).

**Comment [HG27]:** This is repetition, you have mentioned these names before by putting them in brackets. Please delete.

59 Soup is a primary liquid food general served warm that is made by combining ingredients  
60 such as meat and vegetables with stock, juice, water or another liquid, it is a tasty popular  
61 food that is nutritious, wholesome and stimulates the appetites. Thickening usually improves  
62 the taste, but most important is the nutritional value of foods. Thickeners are substances,  
63 which when added to a mixture, increase its viscosity without substantially modifying other  
64 properties such as taste and aroma (Okwu *et al.*, 2010).

**Comment [HG28]:** Add comma after Ayozie.

**Comment [HG29]:** Is this continuation of Line 58 or beginning of another paragraph? Please check Line 75 too.

65  
66 Flours from these soup thickeners have been found to be used in most state in Nigeria with  
67 varying processing methods. They are used as thickeners in traditional soups (for eating of  
68 garri, pounded yam or cocoyam and fufu), equally used as emulsifiers and flavouring agents  
69 in traditional soups due to their ability to swell in water and influence the viscosity of liquid in  
70 addition to their low cost, which is an advantage to most customers as little quantity of this  
71 thickeners create great viscosity as against other thickeners like melon and ogbono (Ezeoke  
72 2010). Nutritionally ukpo, achi and ofor are important and economic sources of protein and  
73 carbohydrates, these nutrients are essential to human nutrition but the composition of these  
74 nutrients in them differs.

**Comment [HG30]:** Insert comma after single author.

**Comment [HG31]:** Put comma after 'Nutritionally' and italicize the native names or use inverted commas for each of them.

75 Several issues are associated with available soup thickeners used in this region due to  
76 improper processing, as the soup thickeners are usually exposed to the environment, leading  
77 to moisture uptake, contamination by dust and black soot which affects their thickening  
78 ability. This research will provide the necessary information on improved methods that are  
79 suitable for processing of soup thickener in order to increase their thickening ability as well as  
80 safety. The study is therefore aimed at determining the effect of boiling and soaking on the  
81 physicochemical, functional and pasting properties of three commonly consumed soup  
82 thickeners.

**Comment [HG32]:** Have you not done the research work? Please correct.

**Comment [HG33]:** Add 's' to 'thickener'.

## 83 MATERIALS AND METHODS

### 84 Materials

85  
86 Achi (*Brachystegia eurycoma*), ofor (*Detarium microcapum*) and ukpo seeds (*Mucuna*  
87 *sloanei*) used for this research work were purchased from Mile 3 Market in Port Harcourt.

**Comment [HG34]:** Italicize the native name. Do same for others.

**Comment [HG35]:** Please delete.

### 88 Chemicals

89  
90 The chemicals used for this work were of analytical grade and were obtained from the  
91 Department of Food Science and Technology Laboratory, Rivers State University, Port  
92 Harcourt.

**Comment [HG36]:** Kindly rewrite as: .....Harcourt and chemicals used were of analytical grade.

### 93 Methods

**Comment [HG37]:** Delete.

### Preparation of legume seed flours

The method described by Nwosu *et al.*, (2011), was used with some modification for the processing of the seeds into flour. The *Detarium microcarpum*, *Mucuna sloanei* and *Brachystegia eurycoma* seed were sorted and each grouped into four. Boiled (15 min and 30 min) and soaked (24 h and 48 h respectively). The boiled and soaked seeds were manually dehulled, oven-dried for 12 h at 60°C, milled (Corona Corn Mill, REF 121) and sieved to obtain flour as shown in Figure 1. The flour was stored in air tight plastic containers at room temperature for subsequent analysis.



**Figure 1:** Production of *Mucuna sloanei*, *Detarium microcarpum* and *Brachystegia eurycoma* flour

**Source:** Nwosu *et al.*, (2011). (Modified)

**Comment [HG38]:** Change to 'samples'.

**Comment [HG39]:** Remove the comma after full stop and after (2011). What did you modify?

**Comment [HG40]:** Please delete and add 's' to 'seed'.

**Comment [HG41]:** It makes no meaning here. Delete.

**Comment [HG42]:** Manually dehulled using what? Kindly state the model, company and country of origin of the oven. Please do same for others. State the sieve size.

125 **Physicochemical Analysis**

126 The proximate compositions of the flour samples (moisture, ash, fat, crude fiber, crude protein  
127 and carbohydrate calculated by difference) were determined using the (AOAC, 2012). The  
128 amylose content of starch extracted from the samples were determined using the iodine  
129 calometric method reported by Zakpa *et al.*, (2010), while amylopectin was calculated by  
130 difference. Starch and sugar were determined by the method of Eke, 2006

Comment [HG43]: Correct the spelling.

Comment [HG44]: Add 'crude' to fat.

Comment [HG45]: Check and correct the spelling.

Comment [HG46]: Remove the comma and do same for others.

Comment [HG47]: Remove the comma, bracket the year and put full stop.

131  
132 **Functional Properties**

133 Least gelation concentration was determined by the method of Onwuka (2005), dispersibility  
134 by the method described by Kulkarni *et al.*, (1991), bulk density was by the method described  
135 by Okaka and Potter (1979). Foam capacity was determined according to the method  
136 described by Narayana and Narasinga, (1982). Solubility and swelling power was determined  
137 according to the method described by Takashi and Sieb (1988), while the method of Abbey  
138 and Ibeh (1998) was adopted for determination of water absorption capacity.

Comment [HG48]: Change 'was' to 'were'

139  
140 **Determination of Anti-nutrient Composition** The phytate content of the samples were  
141 determined by the method of Reddy *et al.*, (1982), tannin content by the Folin-Denis  
142 spectrophotometric method as described by Price *et al.*, (1978), oxalate Content by the  
143 method described by Munro (2000) and total saponins by the method of Hudson and El-  
144 Difrawi (1979).

Comment [HG49]: Change to small letter.

145  
146 **Pasting Properties**

147 Pasting properties of the flour was carried out using a rapid visco-analyser (RVA Model 3c,  
148 New Port Scientific, Sydney) as described by Sanni *et al.*, (2006).

149  
150 **Determination of storage Properties**

151 Determination of chemical properties such as saponification value (SV), iodine value (IV),  
152 peroxide value (PV), free fatty acid (FFA) and acid value (AV) were carried out by the  
153 procedure and method of (A.O.C.S, 1986).

154  
155 **Statistical Analysis**

156 Results were expressed as mean values and standard deviation of two determinations. The  
157 obtained data was analyzed using a one way of variance (ANOVA) using statistical packaging  
158 for social science (SPSS) version 20.0 software 2011 to test the level of significance (P <  
159 0.05). Duncan multiple range test (DMRT) was used to separate the mean where significant  
160 differences existed (Wahua, 1999).

Comment [HG50]: Change to 'were'.

162  
163  
164 **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

165 **Physicochemical Composition of Three Commonly Consumed Soup Thickeners**

166 The result of physicochemical composition of ukpo, achi and ofor is shown in Table 1.  
167 Moisture content of the three soup thickeners ranged between 5.58- 8.92% with sample B<sub>1</sub>  
168 (Achi boiled for 15 min) having the lowest while sample B<sub>2</sub> (Achi boiled for 30 min) having  
169 the highest. Moisture content of samples showed that there was an increase in moisture  
170 content as treatment time increased. Sample B<sub>1</sub> (Achi boiled for 15 min) had the lowest and  
171 sample A<sub>4</sub> (Ukpo soaked for 48 h) had the highest moisture content. This study is in line with  
172 Udensi *et al.* (2010) who reported an increase in the moisture content of *Mucana flagellipes* as  
173 soaking and boiling time increase. Boiling and soaking in water softened the cell tissues of the  
174 seeds, increasing the water absorbing and retention capacities of the seeds due to increased  
175 permeability of the cell membrane to water (Talabi *et al.*, 2016). There was a significant  
176 difference ( $p < 0.05$ ) in the soaked and boiled Ukpo and Achi. However all samples showed  
177 low moisture content which was less than 10% meaning that products would have a better  
178 storability and shelf life.  
179

**Comment [HG51]:** Remove the comma and replace with full stop. Do same for others.

**Comment [HG52]:** Add full stop before comma. Do same for others.

**Comment [HG53]:** Please be consistent, change them to small letters.

180 Ash content of three soup thickeners ranged from 1.14-5.59% with sample C<sub>4</sub> (Ofor soaked  
181 for 48 h) having the lowest and sample C<sub>1</sub> (Ofor boiled for 15 min) having the highest. Ash  
182 content in the present study showed that there was a decrease in the ash content as treatment  
183 time increased. Sample C<sub>4</sub> (Ofor soaked for 48 h) had the lowest while sample C<sub>1</sub> (Ofor boiled  
184 for 15 min) had the highest ash content. Several researchers also reported that as the boiling  
185 and soaking time increases, there is loss of minerals as the seed utilizes them for emergence of  
186 rootlet and hence the ash content is reduced (Wang *et al.*, 1997). The decrease in the ash  
187 content of the seeds as boiling and soaking time increased agreed with the findings of Ozung  
188 *et al.*, (2011) who reported a decrease in ash content of soaked and boiled castor oil seeds  
189 (5.54-4.61% and 5.25-4.73% respectively after boiling for 30 min and soaking for 96 h.  
190 Similarly, Amaefule *et al.*, (2006) recorded a decrease in ash content of pigeon pea seeds from  
191 5.50% (raw seeds) to 4.00% after 30 min boiling. The ash content of soaked Ukpo seeds for  
192 48 h and boiled Ofor seeds for 15 min were significantly different ( $p < 0.05$ ) from all other  
193 treatment. Soaking showed to reduce ash content which may be due to leaching of minerals  
194 into the soaking water.  
195

**Comment [HG54]:** Where is the closing bracket?

**Comment [HG55]:** This should be written in capital letter.

196 Fat content of thickeners ranged from 2.90-10.95% with sample C<sub>2</sub> (Ofor boiled for 30 min)  
197 as the lowest and sample C<sub>1</sub> (Ofor boiled for 15 min) as the highest. Fat content of samples  
198 showed that there was a decrease in the fat contents with increase in boiling and soaking time.  
199 Sample C<sub>2</sub> (Ofor boiled for 30 min) had the lowest and sample C<sub>1</sub> (Ofor boiled for 15 min)  
200 had the highest. Ozung *et al.*, (2011) reported a decrease in fat content of castor oil seed after  
201 boiling and soaking (20.72-18.44%) and 19.92-18.92% respectively). Similarly, the decrease  
202 in fat agreed with the findings of Okigbo (1975) on soyabean and Albrecht *et al.*, (1996) on  
203 beans. Fat content showed a significant difference ( $p < 0.05$ ) for all samples but showed no  
204 significance difference ( $p > 0.05$ ) on the soaked ofor seeds. Boiling of all the samples for a  
205 period of 15 min seemed to retained more fat than boiling for 30 min. However, the decrease  
206 in fat content can be attributed to the loss of soluble materials on boiling and soaking which  
207 increased as the treatment time increased.  
208

**Comment [HG56]:** Change to 'agrees'.



209 Crude fibre of three soup thickeners ranged from 1.30-14.39% with sample C<sub>4</sub> (Ofor soaked  
210 for 48 h) having the lowest and A<sub>1</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 15 min) having the highest. Crude fibre  
211 showed that there was a decrease in the crude fibre of soup thickeners. Samples C<sub>4</sub> (Ofor  
212 soaked for 48 h) having the lowest and sample A<sub>1</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 15 min) having the highest  
213 crude fiber. The decrease in boiling and soaking time correlates with the findings of Okunda  
214 and Ojinnaka (2017) who reported a decrease in crude fibre content of bamabara groundnut  
215 (4.8-4.1%) after soaking for 72 h. Talabi *et al*, (2016) also reported a decrease in crude fibre  
216 content of *P.americana* seeds (3.97-1.58%) after boiling for 25 min. There was no significant  
217 effects (P>0.05) of increased boiling time of achi seeds while increase soaking and boiling  
218 was observed to significantly decrease (P<0.05) the crude fibre content. The reduction in  
219 crude fibre levels as duration of boiling and soaking increased could be due to softening and  
220 subsequent loss of hard coat of the seeds in course of boiling and soaking.  
221

Comment [HG57]: Correct to 'Bambara'.

222 Crude protein of soup thickeners ranged from 9.198-21.31% with sample B<sub>4</sub> (Achi soaked for  
223 48 h) having the lowest and sample A<sub>3</sub> (Ukpo soaked for 24 h) having the highest. Crude  
224 protein result showed a decrease as the treatment time increased. Soaked ofor for 48 h had the  
225 lowest while soaked ukpo for 24 h had the highest. The decrease in protein as boiling time  
226 increased was reported by Ukachukwu and Obioha, (2010) who attributed it to progressive  
227 solubilization and leaching of nitrogenous substances during boiling of the seeds. Nsa *et al*,  
228 (2013) reported a decrease in protein content of castor oil seed from 30.8 to 24.76% after  
229 boiling for 30 min. Okundu and Ojinnaka, (2017) also reported a decrease in protein (22.4-  
230 20.20%) for Bambara groundnut. Treatment had a significant effect (p<0.005) on the boiled  
231 achi and soaked ofor as increase in boiling and soaking was observed to significantly decrease  
232 (P<0.05) the crude protein of other samples. The reduction in crude protein content in boiled  
233 seeds with increase in boiling time could be attributed to the denaturation of protein by heat  
234 (Potter and Hotchkiss, 2006), or leaching of the protein into the soaking or boiling water.  
235

Comment [HG58]: Use the code.

Comment [HG59]: Use the code.

236 Carbohydrate content ranged from 45.01-71.38% with sample A<sub>1</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 15 min) as  
237 the lowest and sample B<sub>4</sub> (Achi soaked for 48 h) as the highest. Result of these soup  
238 thickeners showed an increased as the treatment time increased. Ukpo seed boiled for 15 min  
239 had the lowest while soaked achi seeds for 48 h had the highest. The findings of this study  
240 agrees with that of Okundu and Ojinnaka (2017) who reported an increase in carbohydrates  
241 content (51.0-55.0%) of Bambara groundnut after soaking for 72 h. Kajihansa *et al*, (2014)  
242 also reported that boiling of sprouted sesame seeds after 20 min significantly increased  
243 (p<0.05) the carbohydrates content (1.62-5.06%). Carbohydrates content of the seeds  
244 increased significantly(p<0.05) as the boiling and soaking time increased except for soaked  
245 ofor seeds which did not show any significant difference(p>0.05).  
246

Comment [HG60]: Delete.

247 Sugar content ranged from 2.61-5.04% with sample C<sub>4</sub> (Ofor soaked for 48 h) as the lowest  
248 and sample A<sub>3</sub> (Ukpo soaked for 24 h) as the highest. Sugar content of samples showed that  
249 there was a decrease in the treatment time. Ofor seeds soaked for 48 h had the lowest and  
250 ukpo seeds soaked for 24 h had the highest. This is in agreement with earlier studies of  
251 Numfor, (1999). There was a significant difference (p<0.05) for all the samples but boiled  
252 ofor showed no significant difference (p>0.05). However, the decrease in the sugar content of

253 the flour indicates that, the longer the boiling and soaking time the higher the consumption of  
254 soluble sugars.

255  
256 Starch content ranged from 69.00-74.27% with sample A<sub>4</sub> (Ukpo soaked for 48 h) having the  
257 lowest and sample B<sub>3</sub> (Achi soaked for 24 h) having the highest. Starch content samples  
258 showed that there was an increased in the boiling time but soaking decreased as the treatment  
259 time increased. Boiled Ukpo seed for 48 h had the lowest and soaked achi seeds for 24 h had  
260 the highest starch content obtained in this study was close to the range (81.1-87.7%) reported  
261 by Lu, *et al.*, (2005) for cocoyam (*Xanthosoma sagittifolium*) starches. There was no  
262 significant differences ( $p>0.05$ ) in ofor and boiled achi samples but increase in boiling and  
263 soaking significantly ( $p<0.05$ ) affect ukpo and soaked achi samples. Decrease in starch content  
264 after soaking might be due to leaching of amylose during soaking in water (Sing *et al.*, 2010).

265  
266 Amylose content ranged from 25.20-29.68% with sample C<sub>3</sub> (Ofor soaked for 24 h) as the  
267 lowest and sample A<sub>2</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 30 min) as the highest. Amylose content of samples  
268 showed that there was an increase in the boiled samples as the treatment time increased. Ofor  
269 seeds soaked for 24 h had the lowest while ukpo seeds boiled for 30 min had the highest. The  
270 amylose content by the boiled seeds were higher than the soaked seeds. the amylase content in  
271 this study were higher than the amylose content of fermented cassava starches (18.23-2035%)  
272 reported by Numfor (1999). There was a significant difference ( $p<0.05$ ) for all the treatment.  
273 The higher the concentration of amylose in a starch/flour, the higher its tendency towards  
274 retrogradation (Zubai and Osunduhausui, 2016).

275  
276 Amylopectin ranged from 70.33-74.80% with sample A<sub>2</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 30 min) having the  
277 lowest and sample B<sub>4</sub> (Achi soaked for 48 h) having the highest. Result showed that there was  
278 a decrease in the boiled seeds due to increase in boiling time. Boiled ukpo seeds for 30 min  
279 had the lowest and soaked achi seeds for 48 h had the highest. The percentage of amylopectin  
280 of flour in this study were higher than the range reported by Lu *et al.*, (2005) for cocoyam  
281 (*Xanthosoma sagittifolium*) starches (2.47-2.89%).  
282

283

284

285

**Comment [HG61]:** Remove the comma after Lu and put full stop after *et* and delete comma.

**Comment [HG62]:** Check this.

**Comment [HG63]:** Please correct the name, it is Osundahunsi.

286 **Table 1: Physicochemical composition (%) of three commonly used soup thickeners as affected by**  
 287 **boiling and soaking time**  
 289

Samples	Moisture	Ash	Fat	Crude Fibre	Crude Protein	CHO	Sugar	Starch	Amylose	Amylopec-tin	
Ukpo	A1	7.93 <sup>a</sup>	3.10 <sup>a</sup>	8.48 <sup>a</sup>	14.39 <sup>a</sup>	21.09 <sup>a</sup>	51.00 <sup>c</sup>	4.30 <sup>b</sup>	69.21 <sup>c</sup>	27.72 <sup>b</sup>	72.28 <sup>c</sup>
	A2	7.94 <sup>a</sup>	2.90 <sup>a</sup>	5.18 <sup>bc</sup>	7.55 <sup>c</sup>	20.65 <sup>b</sup>	58.07 <sup>b</sup>	3.70 <sup>c</sup>	71.72 <sup>a</sup>	29.68 <sup>a</sup>	70.33 <sup>d</sup>
	A3	6.66 <sup>b</sup>	3.09 <sup>a</sup>	6.37 <sup>b</sup>	9.65 <sup>b</sup>	21.31 <sup>a</sup>	56.21 <sup>b</sup>	5.04 <sup>a</sup>	70.47 <sup>b</sup>	26.02 <sup>c</sup>	73.99 <sup>b</sup>
	A4	8.87 <sup>a</sup>	1.70 <sup>b</sup>	5.67 <sup>c</sup>	6.95 <sup>c</sup>	20.44 <sup>b</sup>	60.84 <sup>a</sup>	3.21 <sup>d</sup>	69.00 <sup>c</sup>	25.69 <sup>d</sup>	74.31 <sup>a</sup>
Achi	B1	5.58 <sup>a</sup>	3.04 <sup>a</sup>	7.98 <sup>a</sup>	3.50 <sup>c</sup>	10.92 <sup>a</sup>	65.65 <sup>c</sup>	3.71 <sup>a</sup>	69.98 <sup>b</sup>	26.10 <sup>c</sup>	73.90 <sup>b</sup>
	B2	8.92 <sup>b</sup>	2.80 <sup>a</sup>	3.66 <sup>c</sup>	3.38 <sup>c</sup>	10.92 <sup>a</sup>	73.66 <sup>a</sup>	3.21 <sup>b</sup>	70.12 <sup>b</sup>	26.75 <sup>a</sup>	73.25 <sup>c</sup>
	B3	7.64 <sup>ab</sup>	2.70 <sup>ab</sup>	4.70 <sup>b</sup>	7.49 <sup>a</sup>	10.06 <sup>b</sup>	67.42 <sup>c</sup>	2.84 <sup>c</sup>	74.27 <sup>a</sup>	26.50 <sup>a</sup>	73.50 <sup>c</sup>
	B4	7.87 <sup>a</sup>	2.25 <sup>b</sup>	3.58 <sup>c</sup>	5.74 <sup>b</sup>	9.18 <sup>c</sup>	71.39 <sup>b</sup>	2.93 <sup>c</sup>	70.05 <sup>b</sup>	25.20 <sup>b</sup>	74.80 <sup>a</sup>
Ofor	C1	6.35 <sup>a</sup>	5.59 <sup>a</sup>	10.95 <sup>a</sup>	5.39 <sup>a</sup>	14.38 <sup>a</sup>	57.35 <sup>b</sup>	3.79 <sup>a</sup>	71.66 <sup>a</sup>	26.02 <sup>c</sup>	73.99 <sup>b</sup>
	C2	7.82 <sup>a</sup>	2.80 <sup>b</sup>	2.90 <sup>c</sup>	4.56 <sup>b</sup>	12.63 <sup>b</sup>	69.23 <sup>a</sup>	3.62 <sup>a</sup>	70.26 <sup>a</sup>	27.00 <sup>a</sup>	73.01 <sup>d</sup>
	C3	6.92 <sup>a</sup>	1.64 <sup>b</sup>	10.54 <sup>ab</sup>	2.29 <sup>c</sup>	10.92 <sup>c</sup>	67.14 <sup>a</sup>	3.67 <sup>a</sup>	71.10 <sup>a</sup>	25.20 <sup>d</sup>	74.80 <sup>a</sup>
	C4	7.67 <sup>a</sup>	1.14 <sup>b</sup>	10.08 <sup>b</sup>	1.30 <sup>d</sup>	10.92 <sup>c</sup>	68.88 <sup>a</sup>	2.61 <sup>b</sup>	70.77 <sup>a</sup>	26.51 <sup>b</sup>	73.50 <sup>c</sup>

**Comment [HG64]:** Carbohydrate content is not correct. Please recalculate. Kindly do same for others.

290 Values are expressed as mean ± standard deviation of duplicate determination.  
 291 Means with the same letters along the same column are not significantly different (p>0.05).

292  
 293 **KEYS:**

294  
 295 Ukpo A1 = Boiled for 15 min Ofor C1 = Boiled for 15 min  
 296 A2 = Boiled for 30 min C2 = Boiled for 30 min  
 297 A3 = Soaked for 24 h C3 = Soaked for 24 h  
 298 A4 = Soaked for 48 h C4 = Soaked for 48 h

299  
 300 Achi B1 = Boiled for 15min  
 301 B2 = Boiled for 30 min  
 302 B3 = Soaked for 24 h  
 303 B4 = Soaked for 48 h

**Comment [HG65]:** It is not properly written. This is not project. Rewrite on a straight line using comma to demarcate them.



### Functional Properties of Three Commonly Consumed soup Thickeners

The result of functional properties of ukpo, achi, and ofor is shown in Table 2. Bulk density ranged from 0.56-0.76g/ml with sample A<sub>2</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 30 min) having the lowest and sample B<sub>3</sub> (Achi soaked for 24 h) having the lowest. Bulk density result showed that there was a decrease with increase in treatment time. Bulk density gives an indication of the relative volume of packaging materials required. Kajihusa *et al.*, (2014) reported that bulk density of sprouted sesame seed flour increased during boiling but this increase was not significantly different ( $p > 0.05$ ). Studies by Onuegbu *et al.*, (2013) showed are increase in the bulk density of boiled ukpo seed (*Mucuna flagelipes*) from 0.68 – 1.17 g/ml after boiling for 60 min. There was no significant difference ( $P > 0.05$ ) between the treatments except for boiled ofor which differed significantly ( $P < 0.05$ ). However, low bulk density of flours is a good physical attributes when determining transportation and distributed to required locations (Agunbaide and Sanni, 2003).

Comment [HG66]: Correct to 'sesame'.

Comment [HG67]: The name is not correct, it is Agunbiade.

Dispersibility of thickeners ranged from 32.50-48-00% with sample A<sub>3</sub> (Ukpo soaked for 24 h) having the lowest and sample B<sub>3</sub> (Achi soaked for 24 h) having the highest. Result showed an increase in dispersibility as the boiling time increased. This is in agreement with the findings of Achy *et al.*, (2017) who reported that boiling increased the dispersibility of bulbils flours after 30 min, with values ranging from 25 % - 36 %. There was a significant difference ( $p < 0.05$ ) in the samples expect for boiled ukpo and soaked ofor which showed no significant difference. Adebowale *et al.*, (2008) stated that the higher the dispersion, the better the flour reconstitutes in water, while (Kulkarni *et al.*, 1991), stated that higher dispersion ability enhances the emulsifying and foaming capacities of proteins.

Comment [HG68]: Rewrite as Kulkarni *et al.* (1991)

Solubility ranged from 32.56-107.51% with sample A<sub>3</sub> (ukpo soaked for 24 h) having the lowest and sample A<sub>2</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 30 min) having the highest. Solubility of samples ranging from 12.63 – 107.51% showed that there was an increase in solubility as the boiling and soaking time increased. Boiled ofor seeds for 15 min had the lowest and boiled ukpo seeds for 30 min had the highest. Kajihusa *et al.*, (2014) also reported that boiling have a significant effect ( $P < 0.05$ ) on the solubility index of the sesame seed flour. They reported that boiling of the sesame seeds increased the solubility index of the samples soaked for 8 – 14 h. There was a significant difference ( $P < 0.05$ ) for all the samples.

Swelling power ranged from 4.61-8.72g/g with sample B<sub>3</sub> (Achi soaked for 24 h) having the lowest and sample A<sub>1</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 15 min) having the highest. Result showed that there was a decrease in swelling power as the boiling and soaking time increased. Kajihusa *et al.*, (2014) reported that swelling power increased at a soaked time of 8 h from an initial value of 9.52 to a value of 9.66%. Increase in boiling and soaking of ukpo seeds differed significantly ( $P < 0.05$ ). Moorthy and Ramanujam, (1986) reported that the swelling power of flour samples is an indication of the extent of associative forces within the granule. Swelling power is also related to the water absorption index of the starch- based flour during heating (Loos *et al.*, 1981).

Foam capacity ranged from 2.50-29.50% with sample C<sub>2</sub> (Ofor soaked for 48 h) having the lowest and sample A<sub>1</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 15 min) having the highest. Foam capacity ranging from 2.50 – 290% showed that there was a decrease in foam capacity as treatment time increased. Soaked ofor seeds for 48 h had the lowest and boiled ukpo seeds for 15 min had the highest. Studies by Achy *et al.*, (2007) reported that foam capacity of *Dioscorea bulbifera* CV Dugu-won bulbils flours varied from 26.67% in

359 raw to 13.00% for bulbils boiled during 30 min. Ofor flour showed a significant difference ( $P < 0.05$ ) but  
360 soaked ukpo and boiled achi showed no significant difference ( $P > 0.05$ ). the decreased in foam capacity  
361 of these soup thickeners with increase in soaking and boiling time is due to decreased in protein content  
362 during boiling and soaking protein in the dispersion may cause a lowering of the surface tension at the  
363 water an interface, thus always been due to protein which forms a continuous cohesive film around the  
364 air bubbles in the foam Kaushat *et al.*, (2012). Foams are used to improve textures, consistency and  
365 appearance of foods (Akubor, 2007).

366  
367 The least gelation concentration of the three soup thickeners recorded 2.00% for all the treatments,  
368 showing that increase in boiling and soaking time had no significant effect ( $P > 0.05$ ) on the least  
369 gelation concentration of the flours. The ability of protein to form gels and provide structural matrix for  
370 holding water flavor, sugars and food ingredients is useful in food application in new product  
371 development (Aremu *et al.*, 2006). Udensi *et al.*, (2010) indicated that gelation is a quality indicator  
372 influencing the texture of good such as soup. Flour with least gelation concentration are not suitable for  
373 infant formulations since they require more dilution and would result in reduced energy density in  
374 relations to volume (Onwulezo and Nwabuyu, 2009).

375  
376 Water absorption capacity ranged from 0.67-10.46ml/g with B<sub>1</sub> (Achi boiled for 15 min) having the  
377 lowest and sample C<sub>2</sub> (Ofor boiled for 30 min) having the highest, showing an increase as the treatment  
378 time increased. Soaked achi seeds after 24 h had the lowest and boiled ofor seeds for 30 min had the  
379 highest values. Onuegbu *et al.*, (2013) reported an increase in WAC of boiled ukpo seeds (1.60 – 3.20%)  
380 after boiling for 60 min and suggested that an increase in cellular water uptake with increased boiling  
381 time. Similarly Kajihansa *et al.*, (2014) also reported an increase in WAC of sprouted sesame seed flour  
382 (1.37 – 1.64ml/g) as soaking time increased from 8- 16 h. They attributed the varied WAC of the  
383 samples to the change in protein structure with increase in soaking time. There was a significant  
384 difference ( $P < 0.05$ ) in boiled and soaked ukpo and ofor samples. However, WAC is useful in  
385 determining the suitability of the materials in baked flours (Natt and Narasinga, 1981). It is a desirable  
386 trait in foods such as custards, Sausages and dough because these are supported to imbibe water without  
387 dissolution of protein (Seena and Sridhar, 2005).

Comment [HG69]: You may include (WAC).

404 **Table 2: Functional Properties of three commonly used soup thickeners as affected by boiling and**  
 405 **Soaking time**

Samples	Bulk density (g/ml)	Dispersibility (%)	Solubility (%)	Swelling power (g/g)	Foam capacity (%)	Least gelation (%)	Water absorption (ml/g)	
Ukpo	A1	0.59 <sup>a</sup> ±0.02	33.00 <sup>b</sup> ±1.91	55.56 <sup>c</sup> ±0.46	8.72 <sup>a</sup> ±0.11	29.50 <sup>a</sup> ±0.71	2.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	0.91 <sup>c</sup> ±0.54
	A2	0.56 <sup>a</sup> ±0.05	34.00 <sup>ab</sup> ±0.71	107.51 <sup>a</sup> ±0.05	4.69 <sup>b</sup> ±0.44	13.50 <sup>b</sup> ±0.71	2.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	1.00 <sup>c</sup> ±0.00
	A3	0.59 <sup>a</sup> ±0.02	32.50 <sup>b</sup> ±0.71	32.56 <sup>d</sup> ±0.21	5.78 <sup>b</sup> ±0.41	10.50 <sup>c</sup> ±0.71	2.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	8.67 <sup>b</sup> ±0.59
	A4	0.58 <sup>a</sup> ±0.04	36.50 <sup>a</sup> ±0.71	84.28 <sup>b</sup> ±0.89	8.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.82	9.50 <sup>c</sup> ±0.71	2.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	10.42 <sup>a</sup> ±0.47
Achi	B1	0.70 <sup>a</sup> ±0.14	41.00 <sup>d</sup> ±0.00	100.94 <sup>b</sup> ±0.01	5.05 <sup>b</sup> ±0.03	9.50 <sup>a</sup> ±0.71	2.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	0.67 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00
	B2	0.68 <sup>a</sup> ±0.01	42.00 <sup>c</sup> ±0.00	105.85 <sup>a</sup> ±0.04	4.77 <sup>b</sup> ±0.81	7.50 <sup>a</sup> ±0.71	2.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	0.82 <sup>a</sup> ±0.26
	B3	0.76 <sup>a</sup> ±0.05	48.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	34.66 <sup>d</sup> ±0.49	4.61 <sup>b</sup> ±0.49	9.50 <sup>a</sup> ±0.71	2.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	0.67 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00
	B4	0.74 <sup>a</sup> ±0.10	47.00 <sup>b</sup> ±0.00	55.68 <sup>c</sup> ±3.24	7.23 <sup>a</sup> ±0.83	4.50 <sup>b</sup> ±0.71	2.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	1.08 <sup>a</sup> ±0.24
Ofor	C1	0.66 <sup>b</sup> ±0.05	37.00 <sup>b</sup> ±1.41	12.63 <sup>d</sup> ±0.52	6.88 <sup>a</sup> ±0.26	6.50 <sup>a</sup> ±0.71	2.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	7.03 <sup>c</sup> ±0.16
	C2	0.72 <sup>a</sup> ±0.04	46.00 <sup>a</sup> ±1.41	49.26 <sup>c</sup> ±0.34	5.37 <sup>b</sup> ±0.39	3.50 <sup>b</sup> ±0.71	2.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	10.46 <sup>a</sup> ±0.64
	C3	0.67 <sup>ab</sup> ±0.03	35.00 <sup>b</sup> ±1.41	53.43 <sup>b</sup> ±0.05	5.37 <sup>b</sup> ±0.59	5.50 <sup>a</sup> ±0.71	2.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	2.41 <sup>d</sup> ±0.13
	C4	0.63 <sup>ab</sup> ±0.04	34.00 <sup>b</sup> ±0.71	59.70 <sup>a</sup> ±0.42	5.92 <sup>ab</sup> ±0.24	2.50 <sup>b</sup> ±0.71	2.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	8.67 <sup>b</sup> ±0.47

406  
 407 Values are expressed as mean ± standard deviation of duplicate determination.  
 408 Means with the same letters along the same column are not significantly different (p>0.05).  
 409

410 **KEYS:**

411	Ukpo	A1 = Boiled for 15 min	Ofor	C1 = Boiled for 15 min
412		A2 = Boiled for 30 min		C2 = Boiled for 30 min
413		A3 = Soaked for 24 h		C3 = Soaked for 24 h
414		A4 = Soaked for 48 h		C4 = Soaked for 48 h
415				
416	Achi	B1 = Boiled for 15 min		
417		B2 = Boiled for 30 min		
418		B3 = Soaked for 24 h		
419		B4 = Soaked for 48 h		

420  
 421 **Comment [HG70]:** Rewrite.

422  
 423  
 424  
 425  
 426  
 427 **Antinutritional Factors of Three Commonly Consumed Soup Thickeners**

428 Table 3 shows the antinutritional factors such as phytate, tannin, oxalate and saponin of three soup  
 429 thickeners. Phytate recorded 0.01g/kg for all the treatments. Bawa *et al.*, (2003) reported no significant  
 430 reduction in phytate when lablab seeds were cooked for 30 min. Similarly, Lorgyer *et al.*, (2009)

**Comment [HG71]:** You may add 'selected' i.e. selected anti-nutrients.

**Comment [HG72]:** Please delete.

431 reported a significant reduction in phytate content of boiled pigeon pea seeds (1.25- 1.20g/kg) after  
432 boiling for 30 min. There was no significant difference ( $P>0.05$ ) in the phytate content of the boiled and  
433 phytate is heat stable, which may be due to covalent linkage between atoms and the phosphate structure  
434 (Deboland *et al.*, 1975).

435  
436 Tannin content ranged from 2.22- 40.71mg/kg with sample C<sub>4</sub> (Ofor soaked for 48 h) having the lowest  
437 and sample A<sub>4</sub> (Ukpo soaked for 48 h) having the highest. Results showed that tannin content decreased  
438 with increase in boiling and soaking time. This result is in correlation with the findings of Okundu and  
439 Ojinnaka, (2017) who reported a decrease in tannin contents of Bambara groundnut (0.45 – 0.16mg/kg)  
440 after soaking for 48 h. Similarly, Iorgyer *et al* (2009) reported significant reduction ( $P<0.05$ ) in the  
441 tannin content of Pigeon Pea seeds after boiling for 60 min (0.085 – 0.040 mg/kg). Tannin content  
442 significantly reduced ( $P<0.05$ ) for all the samples as boiling and soaking time increased. The reduction  
443 in the tannin content of the soup thickeners with increase in soaking and boiling time may be due to  
444 solubility and leaching into the liquid media (Reddy and Pierson, 1994), as well as differences in plant  
445 origin

446  
447 Oxalate content of seed flour samples ranged from 3.40-7.90mg/100g with sample B<sub>4</sub> (Achi soaked for  
448 48 h) having the lowest and sample A<sub>4</sub> (Ukpo soaked 48 h) having the highest. Analysis result showed  
449 that there was a decrease in oxalate content of the soup thickeners as the treatment time increased.  
450 Soaked achi seeds for 48 h had the lowest and soaked ukpo seeds for 24 h had the highest. Talabi *et al.*,  
451 (2016) reported a decrease in oxalate content of *Persia Americana* (4.07 – 2.77%) after boiling for 25  
452 min. Similarly, Iorgyer *et al.*, (2009) recorded a decrease in oxalate content of pigeon pea seeds form  
453 0.83 – 0.66% after 60 min of boiling. Okundu and Ojinnaka, (2017) also reported a decrease in oxalate  
454 content of Bambara groundnut seeds (1.06 – 0.29%) after soaking for 72 h. Soaking had a significant  
455 effect ( $P<0.05$ ) for all the samples, however, there was no significant difference ( $p<0.05$ ) in boiled achi  
456 and ofor.

457  
458 Saponin content ranged from 2.60-9.18% with sample B<sub>4</sub> (Achi soaked for 48 h) having the lowest and  
459 sample A<sub>1</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 15 min) having the highest. This parameter showed a decrease in the  
460 saponin content as the treatment time increased. Soaked achi seeds for 48 h had the lowest and boiled  
461 ukpo seeds for 15 min had the highest. This result correlates with the findings of Iorgyer *et al.*, (2009)  
462 that saponin content of pigeon pea seeds decreased form 0.89 – 0.73% after boiling for 60 min. Okundu  
463 and Ojinnaka, (2017) also reported a decrease in saponin content of Bambara groundnut seeds (0.82 –  
464 0.12%) after soaking for 72 h. There was a significant difference ( $P<0.05$ ) in Ukpo seeds and boiled achi  
465 seeds, but boiling and soaking of ofor seeds show no significant difference ( $p.>0.05$ ).

Comment [HG73]: Change to small letter.

Comment [HG74]: Italicize and rewritten as *Persia americana*.

Comment [HG75]: ??

Comment [HG76]: Remove the comma and put open bracket.

**Table 3: Anti-nutritional Factors of Ukpo, Achi and Ofor as affected by boiling and soaking time**

Samples		Phytate (g/kg)	Tannin (mg/kg)	Oxalate (mg/100g)	Saponin (%)
Ukpo	A1	0.01 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	40.00 <sup>b</sup> ±0.00	9.30 <sup>b</sup> ±0.25	9.18 <sup>a</sup> ±1.13
	A2	0.01 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	32.73 <sup>c</sup> ±0.09	4.90 <sup>c</sup> ±0.47	5.29 <sup>b</sup> ±0.15
	A3	0.01 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	39.65 <sup>b</sup> ±0.28	9.60 <sup>a</sup> ±0.36	7.85 <sup>a</sup> ±0.26
	A4	0.01 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	40.71 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	7.90 <sup>b</sup> ±0.53	3.15 <sup>c</sup> ±0.78
Achi	B1	0.01 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	12.27 <sup>b</sup> ±0.00	5.07 <sup>a</sup> ±0.19	6.18 <sup>a</sup> ±0.70
	B2	0.01 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	8.80 <sup>c</sup> ±0.00	4.65 <sup>a</sup> ±0.11	4.18 <sup>b</sup> ±0.54
	B3	0.01 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	14.44 <sup>d</sup> ±0.00	3.93 <sup>b</sup> ±0.08	2.69 <sup>b</sup> ±0.71
	B4	0.01 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	8.03 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	3.40 <sup>c</sup> ±0.19	2.60 <sup>b</sup> ±0.00
Ofor	C1	0.01 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	4.46 <sup>b</sup> ±0.00	5.54 <sup>a</sup> ±0.37	3.28 <sup>b</sup> ±0.71
	C2	0.01 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	3.95 <sup>c</sup> ±0.22	5.07 <sup>ab</sup> ±0.43	2.68 <sup>b</sup> ±0.14
	C3	0.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	5.09 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	4.50 <sup>c</sup> ±0.30	6.46 <sup>a</sup> ±0.68
	C4	0.00 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	2.22 <sup>d</sup> ±0.00	3.64 <sup>b</sup> ±0.87	5.20 <sup>a</sup> ±0.57

Values are expressed as mean ± standard deviation of duplicate determination.  
Means with the same letters along the same column are not significantly different (p>0.05).

**KEYS:**

Ukpo	A1 = Boiled for 15 min	Ofor	C1 = Boiled for 15 min
	A2 = Boiled for 30 min		C2 = Boiled for 30 min
	A3 = Soaked for 24 h		C3 = Soaked for 24 h
	A4 = Soaked for 48 h		C4 = Soaked for 48 h

Achi	B1 = Boiled for 15 min
	B2 = Boiled for 30 min
	B3 = Soaked for 24 h
	B4 = Soaked for 48 h

**Comment [HG77]:** Rewrite them on a straight line.

505

506 **Table 4: Storage Properties of three commonly consumed soup thickeners**

507 The storage properties of ukpo, achi and ofor is shown in Table 4. Free fatty acid content ranged from  
508 0.25-0.87% with sample C<sub>1</sub> (Ofor boiled for 15 min) having the lowest and sample C<sub>2</sub> (Ofor boiled for  
509 30 min) having the highest. This result shows that there was an increase in free fatty acid content as the  
510 treatment time increased. Adejumo *et al.*, (2018) reported that sour-sop seeds of moisture content 20%  
511 had higher free fatty acid value (5.29%) than seeds with 6 – 12% moisture (3.11 – 3.33%). There was a  
512 significant difference (P<0.05) in the free fatty acid with an increase in boiling and soaking time. But  
513 soaked ukpo showed no significant difference (p>0.05) free fatty acid value, which is an indicator of  
514 the hydrolytic rancidity of oil that causes an undesirable flavor and aroma in the oil and it is mainly due  
515 to the action of lipase or moisture (Hoover *et al*, 1973). The formation of free fatty acid which increased  
516 with increase in boiling and soaking time can be related to the presence of moisture. This chemical  
517 reaction has been found to be due to the reaction of seed oil with moisture in the presence of enzymes  
518 acting as catalysts. The level of free fatty acid depends on time, temperature and moisture content  
519 (Mahesa *et al*, 2014).

520  
521 Peroxide value ranged between 0.00-6.60meq/kg with sample A<sub>3</sub> (ukpo soaked for 24 h) having the  
522 lowest and sample B<sub>2</sub> (Achi boiled for 30 min) having highest. Result showed that there was an increase  
523 in peroxide value of the samples as the treatment time increased. Soaked ukpo seeds for 24 h had the  
524 lowest and boiled achi seed for 30 min had the highest. Udoh *et al.*, (2017) reported that moisture content  
525 of soursop seeds with 7-21% had higher PV (0.11-0.17 meq/kg) than seeds with moisture content of 6-  
526 12% (0.08-0.11 meq/kg). Peroxide value (PV) is commonly used to determine the magnitude of primary  
527 oxidation products (mainly peroxides) in oils (Shaidi and Wanasundara, 2008). There was a significant  
528 difference (p<0.05) in the boiling and soaking of these seeds. The increase in PV as soaking and boiling  
529 time increased can be attributed to the accumulation of hydrogen peroxides as a result of free radicals  
530 attacking the unsaturated fatty acids of oil (Nyam *et al*, 2013). It is known that factors such as  
531 temperatures and moisture affect the rate of oxidation.

532  
533 Iodine value ranged from 21.45-235.67g/100g with sample A<sub>4</sub> (Ukpo soaked for 48 h) having the lowest  
534 and sample B<sub>3</sub> (Achi soaked for 24 h) having the highest. Iodine value showed that there was a decrease  
535 in iodine value as the treatment time increased. Increase in soaking and boiling time significantly  
536 decrease (p>0.05) the IV of the samples. Iodine value is an index of the unsaturation which is the most  
537 important analytical characteristic of oil (Gulla and Waghray, 2011). A decrease in this parameter is  
538 generally attributed to the destruction of the double bonds of polyunsaturated fatty acids by free radicals  
539 (Tynek *et al*, 2001).

540  
541 Saponification value ranged between 189.06-356.34mgKOH/g with sample A<sub>1</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 15 min)  
542 having the lowest and sample C<sub>4</sub> (Ofor soaked for 48 h) having the highest. Saponification value showed  
543 that there was an increase in SV with increase in treatment time. Boiled ukpo seeds for 15 min had the  
544 lowest and soaked ofor seeds for 48 h had the highest. Saponification value (SV) measures the average  
545 molecular weight of fatty acids present in the oil (Prasauth *et al*, 2015). An increase in SV as boiling and  
546 soaking time increased is also a function of the moisture content and the time. Adejumo and Salihu,

Comment [HG78]: Include (PV).

Comment [HG79]: Delete and replace with PV

Comment [HG80]: Delete.

Comment [HG81]: Add (IV).

Comment [HG82]: Change to IV

Comment [HG83]: Please read and rewrite. You may adopt: Iodine value was significantly (p<0.05) decrease as the treatment time increased.

Comment [HG84]: Add (SV) i.e. Saponification value (SV)

Comment [HG85]: Rewrite as SV.



547 (2018) reported an increase in the SV of tigernut oil (143.066-294.52mgKOH/g) due to increased  
548 moisture content (9.5-40%) in the nuts. There was a significant difference ( $p<0.05$ ) in the samples which  
549 may be due to differences in plant origin and treatments. Soaking and boiling treatment led to increase in  
550 moisture content of seeds as a result of moisture absorption. This indicated that the oil extracted from  
551 the samples as a result of increasing boiling and soaking time would be suitable for soap making since  
552 its saponification values is high.  
553

554 Acid value ranged between 0.51-1.74mgKOH/g with sample C<sub>1</sub> (Ofor boiled for 15 min) having the  
555 lowest and sample C<sub>2</sub> (Ofor boiled for 30 min) having the highest. Result of the present study showed  
556 that there was an increase in the acid value with increase in treatment time. Boiled ofor seeds for 15 min  
557 had the lowest and boiled ofor seeds for 30 min had the highest. Acid value determines the amount of  
558 free fatty acids in a sample. Adejumo *et al*, (2015) reported an increase in acid value of water melon  
559 seed (5.61-10.10 MgKOH/g) as moisture content increased from 4-30%. Increase in boiling and  
560 soaking time resulted to a significant increase ( $P<0.05$ ) in the acid values of achi and ofor seeds. The  
561 codex maximum level of 4 MgKOH/g oil does not produce off-flavors and are also desirable for  
562 consumption. Acid values are dependent on FFA, acid phosphate and amino acids (Nielsen, 1994).  
563 Therefore, the higher the FFA content, the higher the acid value, with higher acid values undesirable in  
564 finished oil based product. The increase in acid value of the seeds is a function of an increase in free  
565 fatty acid content as well as moisture content. The increased acid values observed as soaking and  
566 boiling time increased is in relation to the presence of water during these treatments and the increased  
567 time that caused hydrolysis and aided the degradation of the seeds. Hydrolysis processes occurring in  
568 the seeds reduced the acid value which led to the increase in the acid value (Nielsen, 1994).

570 **Table 4: Storage Properties of Ukpo, Achi and Ofor as affected by boiling and soaking time**

571

572

573

574

575

576

577

578

579

580

581

582

583

584

585

586

587

588

Samples		FFA (%)	PV (Meg/kg)	IV (g/100g)	SV (MgKOH/g)	AV (Mgkoh/g)
Ukpo	A1	0.31 <sup>c</sup> ±0.04	0.10 <sup>b</sup> ±0.10	175.84 <sup>a</sup> ±12.82	189.06 <sup>c</sup> ±3.97	0.62 <sup>b</sup> ±0.08
	A2	0.40 <sup>b</sup> ±0.00	0.20 <sup>b</sup> ±0.00	164.97 <sup>a</sup> ±2.56	236.23 <sup>b</sup> ±2.45	0.79 <sup>c</sup> ±0.00
	A3	0.68 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	0.00 <sup>b</sup> ±0.00	25.38 <sup>b</sup> ±3.64	266.31 <sup>a</sup> ±10.23	1.34 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00
	A4	0.70 <sup>a</sup> ±0.04	0.40 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	21.45 <sup>b</sup> ±0.43	283.70 <sup>a</sup> ±15.94	1.40 <sup>a</sup> ±0.08
Achi	B1	0.35 <sup>d</sup> ±0.02	1.40 <sup>c</sup> ±0.28	163.16 <sup>b</sup> ±5.13	265.91 <sup>c</sup> ±7.93	0.70 <sup>d</sup> ±0.04
	B2	0.45 <sup>b</sup> ±0.00	6.60 <sup>a</sup> ±0.85	137.78 <sup>c</sup> ±10.26	329.87 <sup>b</sup> ±4.76	0.90 <sup>b</sup> ±0.00
	B3	0.40 <sup>c</sup> ±0.00	1.80 <sup>c</sup> ±0.29	235.67 <sup>a</sup> ±5.13	349.92 <sup>a</sup> ±1.39	0.79 <sup>c</sup> ±0.00
	B4	0.51 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	3.99 <sup>b</sup> ±0.02	231.61 <sup>a</sup> ±0.62	350.06 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	1.01 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00
Ofor	C1	0.25 <sup>c</sup> ±0.04	0.10 <sup>d</sup> ±0.14	77.05 <sup>b</sup> ±1.28	253.63 <sup>d</sup> ±0.08	0.51 <sup>c</sup> ±0.08
	C2	0.87 <sup>a</sup> ±0.04	2.40 <sup>a</sup> ±0.57	30.88 <sup>c</sup> ±0.00	271.63 <sup>c</sup> ±0.05	1.74 <sup>a</sup> ±0.08
	C3	0.28 <sup>c</sup> ±0.00	0.49 <sup>cd</sup> ±0.42	121.61 <sup>a</sup> ±7.48	299.45 <sup>b</sup> ±1.42	0.56 <sup>c</sup> ±0.00
	C4	0.48 <sup>b</sup> ±0.04	1.49 <sup>ab</sup> ±0.42	112.30 <sup>a</sup> ±0.00	356.34 <sup>a</sup> ±1.36	0.95 <sup>b</sup> ±0.07

589 Values are expressed as mean ± standard deviation of duplicate determination.

590 Means with the same letters along the same column are not significantly different (p&gt;0.05).

591

592

**KEYS:**

593 Ukpo

A1 = Boiled for 15 min

A2 = Boiled for 30 min

A3 = Soaked for 24 h

A4 = Soaked for 48 h

Ofor

C1 = Boiled for 15 min

C2 = Boiled for 30 min

C3 = Soaked for 24 h

C4 = Soaked for 48 h

597

598

599

600

601

602

Achi

B1 = Boiled for 15 min

B2 = Boiled for 30 min

B3 = Soaked for 24 h

B4 = Soaked for 48 h

603

604

605

606

607

608

609

610

FFA = Free Fatty Acid

PV = Peroxide Value

IV = Iodine Value

SV = Saponification Value

AV = Acid Value

**Comment [HG86]:** Rewrite on a straight line.

## 611 Pasting Properties (RVU) of Three Commonly Consumed Soup Thickeners

612 The pasting properties of three commonly consumed soup thickeners are shown in Table 5. Pasting  
613 property of a food material is important in predicting the behavior of the food material in industrial  
614 applications (Adebowale *et al.*, 2008). Peak viscosity ranged from 6704-16429RVU with sample A<sub>2</sub>  
615 (Ukpo boiled for 30 min) having the lowest and sample B<sub>4</sub> (Achi soaked for 48 h) having the highest.  
616 Peak viscosity is the ability of starch to swell freely before their breakdown. Peak viscosity ranging  
617 from 6721 – 16429RVU showed that there was a decrease in peak viscosity as the soaking time  
618 increased. Boiled ukpo seeds for 15 min had the highest and soaked achi seeds for 48 h had the  
619 highest. The values are higher compared to the values obtained from dried fufu and tapioca  
620 (Adebowale *et al.*, 2005; Adebowale *et al.*, 2008). Increase in boiling and soaking had no significant  
621 effect ( $P < 0.05$ ) for all the samples. The relative high peak viscosity of the samples is an indication of  
622 high starch content (Osungbaro, 2009). Peak viscosity usually indicates the water binding capacity of  
623 a mixture in a product and it is also an indication of viscous load likely to be encountered by a mixing  
624 cooker (Ingbian and Adegoke, 2007).

625  
626 Trough viscosity ranged from 3846-9231RVU with sample A<sub>3</sub> (Ukpo soaked for 24 h) having the  
627 lowest and sample C<sub>1</sub> (Ofor boiled for 15 min) having the highest. This parameter measures the  
628 ability of the paste to withstand breakdown during cooling (Newport Scientific, 1998). Trough  
629 viscosity result in the present study showed that boiling increased the trough viscosity as treatment  
630 time increased in ukpo and achi samples. There was no significant difference ( $P > 0.05$ ) among the  
631 treatments.

632  
633 Breakdown viscosity ranged between 1933-7858RVU with sample C<sub>4</sub> (Ofor soaked for 48 h) having  
634 the lowest and sample B<sub>4</sub> (Achi soaked for 48 h) having the highest. Breakdown viscosity value  
635 therefore is an index of the stability of starch. The breakdown viscosity ranging from 1933 –  
636 7858RVU showed that soaking had the highest breakdown value with increase in soaking time.  
637 Soaked ofor seeds for 48 h had the lowest and soaked achi seeds for 48 h had the highest. The values  
638 were lower than results of Uzomah and Odusanya, (2011) for defatted and undefatted *Detarium*  
639 *microcarpum* flours. There was no significant difference ( $P > 0.05$ ) for all the treatments. Breakdown  
640 viscosity is the difference between the peak and trough viscosity and is an indication of the rate of  
641 gelling stability, which is dependent on the nature of the product (Newport scientific 1998).  
642 Breakdown: Peak viscosity minus trough and is a period when test sample was subjected to constant  
643 temperature which is a measure of the ability of paste to withstand breakdown during cooling.

644  
645 Final viscosity ranged from 11716-19977RVU with sample A<sub>4</sub> (Ukpo soaked for 48 h) having the  
646 lowest and sample C<sub>1</sub> (Ofor boiled for 15 min) having the highest. The final viscosity is the ability of  
647 starch to form a viscous paste and gel during cooking and after cooling, respectively (Maziya –  
648 Dixon, *et al.*, 2007). The final viscosity ranging from 11716-19977RVU showed that a decrease in  
649 the final viscosity of soaked ukpo and boiled ofor with increase in boiling and soaking. Soaked ukpo  
650 seeds for 48 h had the lowest and boiled ofor seeds for 15 min had the highest. There was no  
651 significant difference ( $P > 0.05$ ) among the samples except for boiled achi which differed significantly  
652 ( $P < 0.05$ ). The final viscosities are very high for all samples and this indicated that retrogradation or

653 precipitation of the linear molecule of these seeds were very high. Final viscosity: Viscosity at the  
654 end of the test set back viscosity. Final viscosity minus peak viscosity.  
655

656 Set back viscosity ranged from 6763-13004RVU with sample B<sub>1</sub> (Achi boiled for 15 min) having the  
657 lowest and sample A<sub>3</sub> (Ukpo soaked for 24 h) having the highest. Set back viscosity is an index of the  
658 tendency of the cooked flour to harden on cooling due to amylose retrogradation. The set back  
659 viscosity ranging from 6763 – 13004RVU showed that increased in boiling and soaking increase the  
660 set back viscosity of achi and ofor but decrease the ukpo sample. Boiled achi seeds for 15 min had the  
661 lowest and soaked ukpo seeds for 24 h had the highest values. Increase in soaking time of ukpo seeds  
662 differed significantly (P<0.05) from others. The values were much higher than set back viscosities  
663 (31.66 and 32.91RVU) for defatted and undefatted *D. microcarpum* seeds as reported by Uzomah and  
664 Odusanya (2011). Sanni *et al.*, (2004) reported that lower set back viscosity during cooking of a  
665 paste indicates greater resistance to retrogradation.  
666

667 Peak time ranged from 1.60-6.10 min with sample C<sub>3</sub> (Ofor soaked for 24 h) having the lowest and  
668 sample B<sub>4</sub> (Achi soaked fro 48 h) having the highest. Peak time is the time at which peak viscosity  
669 occurs and a measure of the cooking time, had values ranging from 1.60 – 6.10 min showed that  
670 increased in boiling and soaking increase the peak time. Soaked ofor seeds for 24 h had the lowest  
671 and soaked achi seeds for 48 h had the highest. Peak time is a measure of the cooking time. There  
672 was a significant difference (P<0.05) in the boiling and soaking had no significant different (P>0.05)  
673 on ukpo seeds. The boiled sample had the lowest peak time (50. 25 min) which could be as a result  
674 of cooking in water during processing.  
675

676 Pasting temperature ranged 50.25-76.18<sup>0</sup>C with sample A<sub>1</sub> (Ukpo boiled for 15 min) having the  
677 lowest and sample B<sub>4</sub> (Achi soaked for 48 h) having the highest. Peak temperature: Temperature at  
678 which peak viscosity occurs. Pasting temperature is a measure of the minimum temperature required  
679 to cook a given sample. The temperature at the onset of the rise in viscosity is the pasting temperature  
680 (Adebowale *et al.*, 2008). The pasting temperature ranging from 50.25 – 76.18<sup>0</sup>C showed there was  
681 an increase in soaked achi and ofor seeds with increased in treatment time. Boiled ukpo seeds for 15  
682 min had the lowest and soaked achi for 48 h had the highest. There was no significant difference  
683 (P>0.05) among ukpo and ofor seeds but boiled and soaked achi seeds differed significantly (P<0.05).  
684

685

686

687

688

689

690 Table 5: Pasting Properties (RVU) of three commonly consumed soup thickeners

Sample	Peak Viscosity (RVU)	Trough viscosity (RVU)	Breakdown (RVU)	Final Viscosity (RVU)	Set back (RVU)	Peak time (min)	Pasting temperature (°C)	
Ukpo	A1	7263±2677.0 <sup>a</sup>	4249±577.0 <sup>a</sup>	3014±2100 <sup>a</sup>	16980±2023 <sup>a</sup>	127301±2600 <sup>a</sup>	5.20±0.47 <sup>a</sup>	50.25±0.07 <sup>a</sup>
	A2	6704±660.0 <sup>a</sup>	4565±152.0 <sup>a</sup>	2139±507.0 <sup>a</sup>	14247±138 <sup>ab</sup>	9683±290.6 <sup>ab</sup>	4.27±0.57 <sup>a</sup>	50.30±0.07 <sup>a</sup>
	A3	7581±1298.0 <sup>a</sup>	3846±18.4 <sup>a</sup>	3735±1280 <sup>a</sup>	16850±1535 <sup>a</sup>	13004±1517.0 <sup>a</sup>	5.20±0.10 <sup>a</sup>	50.35±0.00 <sup>a</sup>
	A4	6721±2814.0 <sup>a</sup>	4000±583.0 <sup>a</sup>	2721±2232 <sup>a</sup>	11716±157 <sup>a</sup>	7716±739.6 <sup>b</sup>	5.67±1.32 <sup>a</sup>	50.28±0.04 <sup>a</sup>
Achi	B1	6721±2814 <sup>b</sup>	7950±3743 <sup>a</sup>	2118±1271 <sup>b</sup>	14713±390 <sup>b</sup>	6763±3354 <sup>a</sup>	6.04±0.33 <sup>a</sup>	50.30±0.00 <sup>b</sup>
	B2	10068±5015 <sup>ab</sup>	9034±897.0 <sup>a</sup>	5523±112 <sup>ab</sup>	19946±1731 <sup>a</sup>	10913±2628 <sup>a</sup>	4.37±0.52 <sup>b</sup>	50.35±0.00 <sup>b</sup>
	B3	14556±785 <sup>ab</sup>	9178±742.0 <sup>a</sup>	7251±3103 <sup>a</sup>	16604±2457 <sup>ab</sup>	7426±3200 <sup>a</sup>	5.97±0.23 <sup>a</sup>	74.65±1.77 <sup>a</sup>
	B4	16429±2361 <sup>a</sup>	9062±510.0 <sup>a</sup>	7858±2065 <sup>a</sup>	19368±1938 <sup>ab</sup>	10306±1428 <sup>a</sup>	6.10±0.33 <sup>a</sup>	76.18±0.61 <sup>a</sup>
Ofor	C1	15766±4633 <sup>a</sup>	9231±1435 <sup>a</sup>	6535±3198 <sup>a</sup>	19977±5812 <sup>a</sup>	10746±4376 <sup>a</sup>	2.03±0.14 <sup>b</sup>	50.35±0.07 <sup>a</sup>
	C2	11485±3143 <sup>a</sup>	8924±2089 <sup>a</sup>	2561±1054 <sup>a</sup>	19768±2832 <sup>a</sup>	10844±4921 <sup>a</sup>	6.00±0.85 <sup>a</sup>	50.33±0.04 <sup>a</sup>
	C3	15241±4501 <sup>a</sup>	8991±2625 <sup>a</sup>	6251±1876 <sup>a</sup>	16152±1976 <sup>a</sup>	7161±649 <sup>a</sup>	1.60±0.10 <sup>b</sup>	50.28±0.04 <sup>a</sup>
	C4	9894±3506 <sup>a</sup>	7962±1996 <sup>a</sup>	1933±1510 <sup>a</sup>	18648±347 <sup>a</sup>	10686±2345 <sup>a</sup>	5.57±0.05 <sup>a</sup>	50.30±0.07 <sup>a</sup>

691 Values are expressed as mean ± standard deviation of duplicate determination.  
 692  
 693 Means with the same letters along the same column are not significantly different (p>0.05).  
 694

695 **KEYS:**

696 Ukpo A1 = Boiled for 15 min Ofor C1 = Boiled for 15 min  
 697 A2 = Boiled for 30 min C2 = Boiled for 30 min  
 698 A3 = Soaked for 24 h C3 = Soaked for 24 h  
 699 A4 = Soaked for 48 h C4 = Soaked for 48 h

701 Achi B1 = Boiled for 15min  
 702 B2 = Boiled for 30 min  
 703 B3 = Soaked for 24 h  
 704 B4 = Soaked for 48 h

Comment [HG87]: Rewrite on a straight line.

707 **Conclusion**

708 The study showed that ukpo, achi and ofor flour contains appreciable quantities of nutrients like  
 709 carbohydrate and protein. The high water absorption capacity of the flour justifies its use as a soup  
 710 thickener. The anti-nutritional factors were reduced by processing method adopted especially boiling  
 711 for an extended time of 30 min. However, the functional and physicochemical parameters of ukpo,  
 712 achi and ofor seed flour compared effectively well with other legumes, roots, cereals and tubers.  
 713 Therefore, this processing method should be used for improved safety of the seed for consumption.

Comment [HG88]: Change to methods.

Comment [HG89]: Change to 'to'.

Comment [HG90]: Delete.

714 **REFERENCES**

- 715 Abbey, B.W. and Ibeh, G.O. (1998). Functional properties of raw and heat-treated cowpea (*Vigna*  
716 *unguiculata walp*), *Journal of Food Science*, 53: 1775 – 1777.
- 717
- 718
- 719 Achy, J.Y., Elvis Ekissi, G.S., Koffi, P.K.B., Koné, F.M.T. and Kouamé, L.P (2017). Effect of  
720 boiling and baking times on the functional properties of aerial yam (*Dioscorea bulbifera*)  
721 flours Cv Dugu-won harvested in Côte d'Ivoire. *International Journal of Agronomy and*  
722 *Agricultural Research (IJAAR)*,10(2):1-12.
- 723
- 724 Adebowale, A.A., Sanni, L.O. and Onitilo, M.O. (2008). Chemical composition and pasting  
725 properties of tapioca grits from different cassava varieties and roasting methods. *African*  
726 *Journal of Food Science*, 2: 77- 82.
- 727
- 728 Adebowale, Y.A., Adeyemi, A. and Oshodi, A.A. (2005). Variability in the physicochemical,  
729 nutritional and antinutritional attributes of six mucuna species. *Journal of Food Chemistry*,  
730 89:37 – 48.
- 731
- 732
- 733 Adejumo, B.A. and Salihu, M.E. (2018). Effects of moisture content on the yield and quality of oil  
734 from tiger nut (*Cyperus esculentus*). *Annals. Food Science and Technology*, 19(2):236-243.
- 735
- 736 Adejumo, B.A., Ororunsogo, S.T. and Njoku, C.B. (2015). Qualities of water melon seed oil  
737 extracted at different moisture content. *International Journal of Advanced Engineering*  
738 *Research and Technology*, 3(3):97-100.
- 739 Agunbiade, S.O. and Sanni, M.O. (2003). The effect of ambient temperature on cassava tubers on  
740 starch quality. *International Society for Tropical Root Crops*. 78: 180 – 194.
- 741
- 742 Akubor, P.I. (2007). Chemical, functional and cookie baking properties of soybean/maize flour  
743 blends. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 44:619-622.
- 744
- 745 Albrecht, W.J., Mustakes, G.C. and Mchhee, J.E. (1996). Rate studies on atmospheric steaming and  
746 immersion cooking of soybeans. *cereal chemistry*, 43, 400 – 407.
- 747
- 748 Amaefule, K.U., Onwudike, O.C., Ibe, S.N., Abasiokong, S.F. (2006). Performance, cost benefit,  
749 carcass quality and organ characteristics of pigs feed high graded levels of brewer's dried  
750 grain diets in the humid tropics. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 5(3): 242 – 247.
- 751
- 752 A.O.A.C. (2012). Official Method of Analysis, Association of Official Analytical Chemist, 19<sup>th</sup>  
753 edition, Washington D.C. USA.
- 754
- 755 A.O.C.S. (1986)). American Oil Chemistry Society. Washington D.C., USA.
- 756

Comment [HG91]: Rewrite as Olorunsogo.



757 Aremu, M.O., Olonisakin, A., Atolaye, B.O. and Ogbu ,C.F. (2006). Some nutritional and functional  
758 studies of *Prosopis Africana*. *Electronic Journal of Environmental, Agricultural and Food*  
759 *Chemistry*, 5:1640-1648.

760  
761 Ayozie, C.C. (2010). The effect of storage condition on the rheological properties of soup thickeners  
762 (Achi, ukpo and ofor). Biotechnology Thesis submitted to the Department of Food Science  
763 and Technology, Owerri, Nigeria, 1-3.

764  
765 Bawa, A.S., Sogi, D.S., Bhatia, R. and Garg, S.K. (2013). Biological evaluation of tomato waste seed  
766 meals and protein concentrate. *Journal of Food Chemistry* 89(1): 53 – 56.

767  
768 Deboland, A.R., Garner, G.B. and O’Dell, B.L. (1975). Identification and properties of phytate in  
769 cereals grains and oil seed products. *Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry*. 23:1186- 1189.

770  
771 Eke, J.,(2006). Chemical, functional and Pasting Properties of Starch and Tapioca produced from  
772 selected hybrid Cassava(*Manihot esculenta crantz*) cultivars. Unpublished Ph.D thesis.

773  
774 Ene-Obong, H.N. and Carnoalue, E. (1982). Nigeria soup condiments. Traditional processing and  
775 potential as dietary fibre sources, *Journal of Food Chemistry*, 43:29 – 34.

776  
777 Ezeoke, C. (2010). The effect of processing on the rheological properties of some food thickeners  
778 (Achi, Ukpo and Ofor). Biotechnology Thesis submitted to the Department of Food Science  
779 and Technology, Owerri, Nigeria, 3-4.

780  
781 Gulla, S. and Waghay, K. (2011). Effect of Storage on Physico-chemical Characteristics and Hoover  
782 R, Laurentius SF, Gunetileke KG. 1973. Spoilage of coconut oil purification and properties of  
783 a fungal lipase that attacks coconut oil. *Journal of American Oil Chemist Society*, 50:64–67.

784  
785 Hoover, R., Laurenitus, S.F., Gunetileke, K.G. (1973). Spoilage of coconut oil purification and  
786 properties of a fungal lipase that attacks coconut oil. *Journal of America Oil Chemistry*  
787 *Society*, 50:64-67.

788  
789 Hudson, B.J. and El-Difrawi, E.A. (1979). The sapogenins of seeds of four lupins species. *Journal of*  
790 *Plant Foods*, 3: 181 – 186.

791  
792 Iorgyer, M.I., Adeka, L.A., Ikondo, N.D. and Okoh, J.J. (2009). The impact of boiling periods on the  
793 proximate composition and level of some anti nutritional factors in pigeon pea (*Cajanus*  
794 *cajan*) seeds. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 5(1): 92 – 102.

795  
796 Kajihausa, O.E., Fasasi, R.A. and Atolagbe, Y.M. (2014). Effect of Different Soaking Time and  
797 Boiling on the Proximate Composition and Functional Properties of Sprouted Sesame Seed  
798 Flour. *Nigerian Food Journal*, 32(2):8-15.

799  
800 Kaushal P, Kumar V, Sharma HK (2012). Comparative study of physico-chemical, functional, anti-  
801 nutritional and pasting properties of taro (*Colocasia esculenta*), rice (*Oryza sativa*), pigeon

802 pea (*Cajanus cajan*) flour and their blends. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*. 48:59-  
803 68.

804  
805  
806 Kulkarni, K.D., Kulkarni, D.N. and Ingle, W.M. (1991). Sorghum malted and soybean weaning food  
807 formulation: Preparation, functional properties and nutritive value. *Journal of Food Nutrition*, 13:322  
808 – 329.

809  
810 Loos, P.J., Hood, L.F. and Graham, A.J. (1981). Isolation and characterization of starch from  
811 breadfruit. *Cereal Chemistry*. 58: 282- 286.

812  
813 Lu, T.J., Chen, J.C., Lin, C.L. and Chang, Y.H. (2005). “Properties of starches from cocoyam  
814 (*Xanthosoma Sagittifolium*) tubers planted in different season”. *Food Chemistry*, 91:1, 69 –  
815 77.

816  
817 Mahesar, S.A., Sherazi, S.T.H., Khaskheli, A.R., Kandhro, A.A. and Uddin, S. (2014). Analytical  
818 Approaches for free fatty acids assessment in oils and fats. *Analytical Methods*, 6:4956 - 4963.

819  
820 Maziya-Dixon, B., Dixon, A.G.D. and Adebowale, A.A (2007). Targeting different and uses of  
821 cassava: Genotypic variations for cyanogenic potentials and pasting properties. *International*  
822 *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 42 (8): 969 – 976.

823  
824 Moorthy, S.N. and Ramanujan, T. (1986). Variation in properties of starch in cassava varieties in  
825 relation to the age of the crop. *Starch Starke* 38:56 -81.

826  
827 Munro, A.B. (2000). Oxalate in Nigerian vegetables. *Journal of Biological Applied Chemistry*, 12:14  
828 - 18.

829  
830 Narayana, K. and Narasinga, R.M.S. (1982). Functional properties of raw and heat processed winged  
831 bean (*Phosphocarpus tetragonolobus*) flour. *Journal of Food Science*, 47:1534 – 1538.

832  
833 Nath, J.P. Narasinga, M.S. (1981). Functional properties of guar proteins. *Journal of Food Science*  
834 46: 1253 – 1255.

835  
836 Newport Scientific (1998). Operational manual for the series of rapid visco analyzer. Newport  
837 scientific property Limited. Australia, 2 – 26.

838  
839 Nielsen, S.S. (1994). Introduction to the chemical analysis of foods. Chapman and Hall, New York.  
840 93-207.

841  
842 Nsa, E.E. and Ukachukwu, S.N. (2013). Effect of thermal processing methods on the proximate  
843 composition, gross energy, minerals and ricin content of undecorticated castor oil seed  
844 (*Ricinus communis*). *International Journal of Plant, Animal and Environmental Science*,  
845 1(3):244 – 252.

846

847 Numfor, F.A. (1999). "Physicochemical changes in cassava starch and flour associated with  
848 fermentation, effect on textural properties", *Journal of Food Technology in Africa*, 4: (1) 31 –  
849 35.  
850  
851 Nwosu, J.N., Ogueke, C.C. Owuamanam, C.L. Onuegbu, N. (2011). The effect of storage conditions  
852 on the proximate and rheological properties of soup thickeners Achi (*Brachystegia*  
853 *eurycoma*), 3(5): 55- 58.  
854  
855 Nyam, K.L., Ng, S.K. Lau, J.L., Tan, C.P. and Long, K. (2013). Effect of Accelerated storage on  
856 microencapsulated kenaf seed oil. *Journal of American Oil Chemistry Society*, 90:1023-1029.  
857  
858 Okaka, J.C. and Porter, N.N. (1979). Physicochemical and functional properties of cowpea powders  
859 processed to reduce beany flavor. *Journal of Food Science*, 44: 1235 – 1240.  
860  
861 Okundu, H. O. and Ojinnaka, M.C. (2017). Effect of soaking time on the nutrient and antinutrient  
862 composition of Bambara groundnut seeds (*Vigna subterranean*). *African Journal of Food*  
863 *Science and Technology*, 8(2):25-29.  
864  
865 Okwu, G.I., Premilaand, N.A., Santosh, K.S. (2010). Quantification of Aflatoxin B1 in ready-to-use  
866 food thickeners in South-East Geo-political Zone in Nigeria. *African Journal of Microbiology*  
867 *Research*, 4:1788 – 1793.  
868  
869 Onuegbu, N.C., Nworah, K.O., Essien, P.E., Nwosu, J.N. and Ojukwu, M. (2013). Proximate,  
870 functional and anti nutritional properties of boiled ukpo seed (*Mucuna flagellipes*) flour.  
871 *Food Science and Nutrition* 4(1):89 – 95.  
872  
873 Onwuka, G.I. (2005). Food analysis and instrumentation: theory and practice. Naphthali Prints, Lagos,  
874 10(4):140-146.  
875  
876 Onwulenko, J.C. and Nwabugu, C.C. (2009). Fermentation of millet (*Pennisetum americanum*) and  
877 Pigeon Pea (*Cajanus cajan*) seeds for flour production: Effects on composition and selected  
878 functional properties. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 8(6):737-744.  
879  
880 Osungbaro, T.O. (2009). Physical and Nutritive Properties of Fermented cereals foods. *African*  
881 *Journal of Food Science* 3(2) 23 – 27.  
882  
883 Ozung, P.O., Nsa, E.E., Ukachukwu, S.N. and Isika, M.A. (2011). Effect of boiling and soaking  
884 durations on the proximate composition, ricin and mineral content of undecorticated castor oil  
885 seed (*Ricinus communis*). *International Journal of Plant, Animal and Environmental Science*,  
886 3(6):156-158.  
887  
888 Potter, N. and Hotchkiss, J.H. (2006). Food Science, 5<sup>th</sup> Ed. Cbs Publishes and Distributors PVT Ltd,  
889 Delhi, India.  
890

891 Prasanth, P.K., Kumar, A.G. and Gopala Krishna (2015). Physicochemical characteristics of  
892 commercial coconut oils produced in India. *Grasas Y Aceites* 66 (1):1-11.  
893  
894 Price, M.L., VanScoyoc, S. and Butler, L.C. (1978). A critical evaluation of the vanillin reaction as  
895 an assay for tannin in sorghum grain. *Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry*, 26:1214 –  
896 1218.  
897  
898 Reddy, N.R., Sathe, S.K. and Salurikhke, D.K. (1982). Phytates in legumes and cereals. *Advanced*  
899 *Food Research*, 28 : 1-92.  
900  
901 Sanni, L.O., Kosoko, S.B, Adebowale, A.A, Adeoye, R.J (2004).The influence of palm oil and  
902 chemical modification on the pasting and sensory properties of fufu flour. *International*  
903 *Journal of Food properties* 7(2): 229– 237.  
904  
905 Sanni, L.O., Adebowale, A.A., Filani, T.A., Oyewole, O.B. and Westby, A. (2006). Quality of flash  
906 and rotary dryer dried fufu flour. *Journal of Food Agriculture and Environments*, 4:74-78.  
907  
908 Seena, S., Sridhar, K.R. (2005). Physicochemical, functional and cooking properties of under  
909 explored legumes, canavalia of the Southwest coast of India. *Food Research International*,  
910 38(7):803-814.  
911  
912 Shaide, F. and Wanasundara, U. (2008). Methods for measuring oxidative stability in edible oils.  
913 *Journal of Food Lipids, Chemistry, Nutrition and Biotechnology*, 14:387 – 388.  
914 Singh, H., Sodhi, N.S. and Singh, N. (2010). Characteristics of starches separated from sorghum  
915 cultivars grown in India. *Journal of Food Chemistry*, 119:95 – 100.  
916  
917 Takashi, S. and Seib, P.A. (1988). Paste and gel properties of prime corn and wheat starches with and  
918 without native lipids. *Journal of Food Chemistry*, 65: 470 – 474.  
919  
920 Talabi, J.Y., Olukemi, A.O., Ajayi, O.O. and Adegoke, G.O. (2016). Nutritional and anti-nutritional  
921 compositions of processed Avocado (*Persia Americana*) seeds. *Asian Journal of Plant*  
922 *Science and Research*, 6(2):6-12.  
923  
924 Tynek, M., Huzuka, Z., Pawlowicz, R. and Dudek, M. (2001). Changes in the frying medium during  
925 deep frying of food rich in proteins and carbohydrates. *Journal of Food Lipids*, 8:251 – 261.  
926  
927 Udensi, E.A., Arisa, N.U., Ikpa, E. (2010). Effects of soaking and boiling and autoclaving on  
928 nutritional quality of *Mucuna flagellipes* (ukpo). *African Journal of Biochemistry Research*,  
929 4(2): 047- 050.  
930  
931 Udoh, J.E., Tajudeen, M.A. O., Dairo, O.U. Alonge, A.F. (2017). Effect of moisture content on the  
932 mechanical and oil properties of sour-sop seeds. *Chemical Engineering Transactions*, 58:361-  
933 366.  
934

- 935 Ukachukwu, S.N. and Obioha, F.C. (2010). Effect of time duration of thermal treatments on the  
936 nutritive value of *Mucuna cochinnensis*. *Global Journal of Pure and Applied Sciences*, 9:11 –  
937 15.  
938
- 939 Uzomah, A.I. and Odusanya, O.S. (2011). *Mucuna sloanei*, *Detarium, microcarpum* and  
940 *Brachysteyia eurycoma* seeds; A preliminary study of their starch – hydrocolloids system.  
941 *African Journal of Food Science*, 5(13):733-740.  
942
- 943 Wang, N., Lewis, M.J., Brennan, J.G. and Westby, A. (1997). Optimization of germination process of  
944 cowpea by response surface methodology. *Journal of Food Chemistry*. 58(4):329-339.  
945
- 946 Wahua, T.A. (1999). Applied statistics for scientific studies. Africa link books, Aba – Nigeria, 7:  
947 365-369.
- 948 Zakpaa, H.D, Al-Hassun A, Adubotar J. (2010). An investigation into the feasibility of  
949 production and characterization of starch from (Apunli) plantain (Giant harn) grown in  
950 Ghana. *African Journal of Food Science*, 4(9): 571-577.  
951
- 952 Zubair, A.B. and Osundahunsi, O.F. (2016). Effect of steeping period on the physicochemical  
953 and pasting properties of sorghum starch. *Journal of Applied Tropical Agriculture*,  
954 21(3):12-18.  
955  
956  
957